ORIGINAL

RECEIVED

JUN 17 2014

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY  
Court of General Sessions

Kristi Harrington, Circuit Court Judge

Case Nos.: 2010GS1008190 and 2010GS1008191  
Appellate Case No.: 2012-213248

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA .....Respondent,

v.

DENORRIS HALL .....Appellant.

**FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT DENORRIS HALL**

Tiffany F. Hendricks (Lead Counsel)  
S.C. Bar No.: 70678  
SOWELL GRAY STEPP & LAFFITTE, L.L.C.  
1310 Gadsden Street (29201)  
Post Office Box 11449  
Columbia, South Carolina 29211  
(803) 929-1400  
thendricks@sowellgray.com

—and—

Robert M. Dudek (Second Counsel)

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. **Did the trial court err in denying Appellant's Motion to Dismiss for a mistrial based on violation of Appellant's due process rights under Rule 5 and *Brady v. Maryland*?**
- II. **Did the trial court err in admitting Appellant's statement into evidence?**
- III. **Did the trial court err in denying counsel for Appellant the opportunity to argue last during closing in violation of the Appellant's equal protection rights?**

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On December 7, 2010, the Charleston County Grand Jury indicted Denorris Hall (“Hall”) on charges of attempted robbery and attempted murder. (R. pp. 536-539.) On October 15, 2012, Hall proceeded to trial before the Honorable Kristi Harrington. Hall was represented by Andrew Grimes and Megan Ehrlick. On October 17, 2012, a jury returned a verdict of guilty to all charges as indicted. (R. pp. 523-524.) The trial judge sentenced Hall to twenty years, on each of the attempted armed robbery and attempted murder charges. Both charges are to run concurrently. Hall’s attorney timely filed a Notice of Appeal. (R. p. 1.) This appeal follows.

## ARGUMENT

### **I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION TO DISMISS THE CASE FOR A MISTRIAL BASED ON VIOLATION OF APPELLANT'S DUE PROCESS RIGHTS UNDER RULE 5 AND *BRADY V. MARYLAND*.**

On September 13, 2010, Absalom Thomas ("Thomas") went to a convenience store near the intersection of McMillan and Spruill Streets in Charleston County to purchase a beer. As Thomas left the store to return home, a black male approached him and asked for a cigarette. Thomas testified that as he was handing the man a cigarette, the man grabbed Thomas' hand and searched his pockets. Thomas realized he was being robbed. (R. p. 113, lines 1-7.) Thomas testified that as he attempted to flee the scene, two men followed him shooting him twice. (R. p. 113, lines 11-17.) At trial, the solicitor asked Thomas if he recognized who shot him and if that person was present in court. After Thomas responded in the affirmative, counsel for Appellant objected because counsel was unaware that Thomas could identify his shooter. (R. p. 122, lines 1-22.)

The trial court allowed Thomas to proffer testimony regarding his identification of the shooter. Thomas testified that he recognized the shooter as Hall and identified Hall in the courtroom. (R. p. 127, lines 7-16.) In the presence of the jury, the trial court ruled that Thomas could identify Hall as the shooter. (R. p. 131, line 23 – p. 132, line 13.) The trial court allowed Appellant's counsel to preserve all motions regarding the nondisclosure of possible identification until the completion of Thomas' testimony. (R. p. 130, lines 17 – p. 131, line 1.)

Appellant's counsel moved for a mistrial based upon the State's failure to disclose that Thomas could identify Hall as the shooter. (R. p. 165, lines 2-5.) Counsel for Appellant argued that by failing to disclose this information, Hall was not afforded the "opportunity to make a meaningful decision on plea offers." (R. p. 165, lines 8-9.) Further, Appellant's counsel

contended that the discovery in the case consistently identified the suspects only as “two black males, one was taller and the other person wearing dark clothes.” (R. p. 167, lines 3-4.) Prior to trial, there was never any indication from the State that anyone could positively identify the shooter, and in fact, co-Defendant Herman Smith admitted that he was the shooter. (R. p. 167, lines 4-9.) The trial court has discretion to grant or deny a motion for a mistrial, and the “court’s decision will not be disturbed an appeal absent an abuse of discretion amounting to an error of law.” *State v. Culbreath*, 377 S.C. 326, 331, 659 S.E.2d 268, 271 (Ct. App. 2008). A mistrial should be granted only when absolutely necessary. *State v. Council*, 335 S.C. 1, 13, 515 S. E.2d 508, 514 (1999). To be granted a mistrial, a defendant must show both error and resulting prejudice. *Id.*

Rule 5 South Carolina Rules of Criminal Procedure provides that the prosecution shall permit the defendant, upon request, to inspect and copy any documents, examinations, tests which are in the control of the prosecution which the prosecution intends to use as evidence in chief at trial. A Rule 5 violation is not reversible unless prejudice is shown. *State v. Landon*, 370 S.C. 103, 108, 634 S.E.2d 660, 663 (2006). In *Brady v. Maryland*, 373 U.S. 83 (1963), the United State Supreme Court declared the suppression of evidence favorable to an accused upon request violates due process where the evidence is material either to guilt or to punishment, irrespective of the good faith or bad faith of the prosecution. 373 U.S. at 87. The overriding theme of the *Brady* cases is the emphasis the Supreme Court has placed on the prosecutor’s responsibility for fair play. *Riddle v. Ozmint*, 369 S.C. 39, 46, 631 S.E.2d 70, 76 (2006) (citing *Kyles v. Whitley*, 514 U.S. 419 (1995)).

An individual asserting a *Brady* violation must demonstrate that evidence: (1) is favorable to the accused; (2) in the possession of or known by the prosecution; (3) was

suppressed by the state; and (4) was material to the accused's guilt or innocence or was impeaching. *Riddle*, 369 S.C. at 44, 631 S.E.2d at 73 (citing *Kyles v. Whitley*, 514 U.S. 419 (1995); *Gibson v. State*, 334 S.C. 515, 514 S.E.2d 320 (1999)). The South Carolina Supreme Court applied this standard in *Riddle* and the Court ruled that if a *Brady* violation occurred, post-conviction relief must be granted. *Riddle*, 369 S.C. at 44, 631 S.E.2d at 73.

The *Brady* disclosure rule is grounded in a defendant's fundamental right to a fair trial mandated by the Due Process clause of the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments. *State v. Kennerly*, 331 S.C. 442, 451, 503 S.E.2d 214, 219 (Ct. App. 1998). The burden is on the solicitor to disclose material evidence which is exculpatory or impeaching. *Id.* at 452. Evidence is material under *Brady* if there is a reasonable probability that the result of the proceeding would have been different had the information been disclosed. *Id.*

In the present case, Hall is prejudiced by the fact that Thomas, the victim in the case, could positively identify Hall as the shooter, but failed to do so prior to trial. Given the fact that the co-Defendant admitted to shooting Thomas and there was no additional evidence in discovery to the contrary, Hall was unaware of the potential that Thomas would identify Hall as the shooter. Additionally, as defense counsel argued, had Hall been aware of the possible identification, Hall could have had the opportunity to hire an expert and more properly develop his cross examination thus affording Hall a more complete defense. The trial court therefore erred in allowing the in-court identification because the identification at trial was not properly disclosed prior to trial and therefore violates both Rule 5 and *Brady v. Maryland*.

## **II. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ADMITTING THE APPELLANT'S STATEMENT INTO EVIDENCE.**

The decision of the trial court to admit evidence will not be disturbed absent an abuse of discretion. *State v. Pagan*, 369 S.C. 201, 208, 631 S.E.2d 262, 265 (2006). "An abuse of

discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law.” *Id.*; see also *State v. Wise*, 359 S.C. 14, 21, 596 S.E.2d 475, 478 (2004).

With regard to a *Miranda* warning, the court in *State v. Williams*, 405 S.C. 263, 747 S.E. 2d 194 (2013) concluded:

The State may not use statements stemming from custodial interrogation of the defendant unless it demonstrates the use of procedural safeguards effective to secure the privilege against self-incrimination. Custodial interrogation entails questioning initiated by law enforcement officers after a person has been taken into custody or otherwise deprived of his freedom of action in any significant way. Interrogation can be either express questioning or its functional equivalent and includes words or actions on the part of police (other than those normally attendant to arrest and custody) the police should know are reasonably likely to elicit an incriminating response.

*Williams*, 405 S.C. at 272-273, 747 S.E. 2d at 199 (internal citations omitted).

The purpose of *Miranda* is to apprise a defendant of his constitutional privilege not to incriminate himself while in the custody of law enforcement. *Miranda v. Arizona*, 384 U.S. 436, 444 (1966). Law enforcement must inform a suspect of his *Miranda* rights “after a person has been taken into custody or otherwise deprived of his freedom of action in any way.” *Id.* To determine whether a suspect is in custody, the trial court must examine the totality of the circumstances, which include factors such as the place, purpose, and length of interrogation, as well as whether the suspect was free to leave the place of questioning. *Bradley v. State*, 316 S.C. 255, 257, 449 S.E.2d 492, 493-94 (1994). The custodial determination is an objective analysis based on whether a reasonable person would have concluded that he was in police custody. *Id.* at 257, 449 S.E.2d at 493-94 (internal citations omitted).

In *Miranda*, the Supreme Court concluded that “the accused must be adequately and effectively apprised of his rights and the exercise of those rights must be fully honored.”

*Miranda*, 384 U.S. at 467. “*Miranda* conditioned the admissibility at trial of any custodial confession on warning a suspect of his rights: failure to give the prescribed warnings and obtain a waiver of rights before custodial questioning generally requires exclusion of any statements obtained.” *Missouri v. Seibert*, 542 U.S. 600, 608 (2004).

In the present case, Hall was transported to North Charleston City Hall by law enforcement for questioning regarding another incident. (R. p. 70, lines 7-8.) Hall was eighteen years old at the time. Detective Mark Evans testified, during the *Jackson v. Denno* hearing,<sup>1</sup> that when Hall began to provide a written statement regarding the alleged incident, the other law enforcement officer in the room, Sergeant Hill, immediately began asking Hall about the incident in question. (R. p. 70, lines 22-24.) Detective Evans testified that when Hall placed himself in the vicinity of the incident, the interview stopped and Hall was advised of his *Miranda* rights. (R. p. 70, line 2-4.) Law enforcement knew that Hall was suspect based upon the anonymous tip. (R. p. 71, line 4-11.) They transported Hall to the police department and allowed him to continue discussing his whereabouts until he implicated himself by stating he was near the location of the incident. (R. p. 69, lines 23 – p. 68, line 12.) This interrogation violated both *Miranda* and *Seibert* and the trial court should have suppressed Hall’s statement. This Court should therefore reverse the trial court and grant Appellant a new trial.

---

<sup>1</sup> *Jackson v. Denno*, 378 U.S. 368 (1964) provides that a defendant in a criminal case is entitled to an evidentiary hearing on the voluntariness of statements made by the defendant prior to submission of such statements to the jury. Where there is conflicting evidence regarding the statements, the court must make a finding as to their validity. *State v. Silver*, 307 S.C. 326, 330, 414 S.E.2d 813, 815 (Ct. App. 1992) *aff’d as modified*, 314 S.C. 483, 431 S.E.2d 250 (1993) (internal citations omitted).

### **III. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT THE OPPORTUNITY TO ARGUE LAST IN VIOLATION OF THE APPELLANT'S EQUAL PROTECTION RIGHTS.**

The United States and State of South Carolina constitutions both guarantee a defendant the right to present a complete defense. Specifically, “the Sixth Amendment rights to notice, confrontation, and compulsory process guarantee that a criminal charge may be answered through the calling and interrogation of favorable witnesses, the cross-examination of adverse witnesses, and the orderly introduction of evidence.” *State v. Lyles*, 379 S.C. 328, 341, 665 S.E.2d 201, 208 (Ct. App. 2008). Furthermore, the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment provides that these rights are extended to criminal defendants in state courts. *Id.* at 341 (internal citations omitted).

Counsel for Appellant requested that the trial court allow the State to present its case in full in its closing argument and then afford the Appellant an opportunity to reply. (R. p. 445, lines 9-10.) Counsel for Appellant contended that the State violated Appellant’s equal protection rights because in general, defendants who do not present evidence during trial and do not call witnesses are allowed to have the last argument before a jury. (R. p. 445, lines 15-17.) However, in a case where a defendant does present evidence, the effect essentially creates a punishment for exercising the defendant’s right to present a defense. *See e.g., McCleskey v. Kemp*, 481 U.S. 279 (1986). The trial court noted counsel for the appellant’s objection for the record and allowed the State to proceed with final close. (R. p. 445, lines 13-16.) Hall submits the trial court erred in allowing the State final closing argument thus violating his equal protection rights under the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments.

**CONCLUSION**

For the foregoing reasons, Appellant respectfully submits that this Court grant a new trial.

SOWELL GRAY STEPP & LAFFITTE LLC