ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Charleston County
The Honorable Kristi Lea Harrington, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2012-213248

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT,

v.

DENORRIS HALL,

APPELLANT.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

CHRISTINA J. CATOE
Assistant Attorney General
SC Bar No. 73562

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3737

SCARLETT A. WILSON
Solicitor, Ninth Judicial Circuit

101 Meeting Street, Suite 400
OT Wallace Building
Charleston, South Carolina 29401
(843) 958-1900

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED

JUN 17 2014

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

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

After being shot, the victim made it to the Three Dollar Lounge and convinced the security guard there to let the victim use his cell phone to call police. (R. p. 114, lines 2-5). The victim walked back over to his house since no one would give him a ride, and the police arrived shortly and an ambulance took the victim to the hospital. (R. p. 121-22).

The victim suffered a collapsed lung and ten percent of his liver had to be removed due to the gunshot wounds. (R. p. 116). The victim stated he was in the hospital for about four weeks. (R. p. 134, lines 11-12).

Detective Evans of the North Charleston Police Department met with other officers at the crime scene around 7:00 am the next morning. (R. p. 284-85). Detective Evans noticed that the South Carolina Federal Credit Union had several exterior cameras, and he subsequently recovered videos of the crime from the security department at the credit union. (R. p. 285-87). However, officers were unable to identify the men in the video at that point. (R. p. 288). Officer Hill was able to recover two .25 caliber shell casings from the parking lot. Later, on September 16, Detective Patrick received a phone call that led to Appellant becoming a suspect. (R. p. 288, lines 17-24). Officers arranged an interview with Appellant and he ultimately provided a statement indicating he was present with Herman Smith when the crime occurred but did not participate in it. (R. p. 289-94). Herman Smith was arrested and ultimately decided to cooperate with police and testify at Appellant's trial. (R. p. 194-95; p. 273). At the time of Appellant's trial, Smith had already pled guilty to attempted murder and attempted armed robbery but was awaiting sentencing. (R. p. 194-95). Smith's trial testimony basically confirmed the victim's account of what happened and confirmed that although Smith was unsure whose bullets actually struck the victim, both he and Appellant were shooting at him. (See R. p. 202-264).

Videos from the credit union surveillance cameras were introduced at trial, as was Appellant's statement to police. (See State's Exhibits 2, 5, & 6). Appellant called three defense witnesses to testify on his behalf, including his mother, his godmother, and

Detective Patrick. (R. p. 351-431). Appellant elected not to testify at trial. (R. p. 434). After deliberating for about forty minutes, the jury returned guilty verdicts on both charges. (R. p. 498-500).

- I. **The trial judge properly denied Appellant’s mistrial motion because there was no violation of Brady v. Maryland where evidence that the victim was able to make an in-court identification of Appellant was not favorable to Appellant, and where there was no suppression of documents or tangible evidence in violation of Rule 5, SCRCrimP.**

Relevant Facts

After the victim testified about the pertinent facts of the incident, the solicitor inquired whether or not the person who shot the victim was present in court and whether or not the victim recognized him. (R. p. 122, lines 1-5). The victim answered in the affirmative, and defense counsel objected, stating he had a matter of law. (R. p. 122, lines 3-8). At a bench conference, defense counsel indicated “[t]his is the first I’ve heard of any identification.” (R. p. 122, lines 11-12). The solicitor pointed out that the victim had never told anyone that he was not able to identify the perpetrator and that the victim was never shown a photographic lineup because he had been in the hospital. (R. p. 122, lines 16-19). Defense counsel indicated he believed “it should be suppressed” because it was never disclosed to the defense. (R. p. 123, lines 5-6). The judge then excused the jury so she could further explore the matter. (R. p. 123, lines 7-12).

When asked to explain his objection, defense counsel stated that he believed the State committed a Rule 5 and/or Brady violation by failing to disclose this information previously. (R. p. 123, line 22 – p. 124, line 2). The solicitor responded that “it’s not Brady” because the evidence is not exculpatory, i.e., not favorable to the defendant. (R. p. 124, lines 22-25). Defense counsel then argued that “[a]nything that shows a witness

has given inconsistent statement is Brady material” and that “nothing in [the victim’s] statement indicates that he could identify [Appellant].” (R. p. 125, lines 3-14). However, defense counsel was unable to explain to the judge how there was any inconsistency with the victim’s prior statements where no one ever asked the victim whether or not he would be able to identify the perpetrator. (See R. p. 125-26).

At that point the judge allowed a proffer of the victim’s testimony. The victim stated that the man who shot and robbed him on the date in question was present in the courtroom and was seated to the left of defense counsel. (R. p. 127, lines 7-14). On cross-examination, the victim testified he had never been shown a photograph of Appellant before and had never discussed what Appellant looked like with anyone before trial. (R. p. 127, line 21 – p. 128, line 2). He stated he gave descriptions of both perpetrators to the police after the incident when he was in the hospital. (R. p. 128, lines 3-12). The victim also testified that he knew Appellant shot him, but since he was shot twice, he was unsure if the other perpetrator - who also had a gun - shot him also. (R. p. 128, lines 13-22).

At the conclusion of the proffer, defense counsel moved for a continuance of trial “to be able to research to see if the State’s disclosure during the trial of the possible identification without any pretrial disclosure violates [Appellant’s] rights and a chance to research it since this is a complete surprise.” (R. p. 130, lines 16-22). The judge indicated that the victim’s testimony before the jury needed to be concluded but that she would revisit the issue the following morning. (R. p. 130-33). Thereafter, the jury returned to the courtroom and the victim identified Appellant in court as one of the men who shot him on the date in question. (R. p. 133, lines 10-20). He explained that

Appellant was the first man he saw that night and that Appellant was the one armed with a silver gun. (R. p. 133, line 21 – p. 134, line 4). The victim confirmed that “today is the first day [he had] seen [Appellant] since that night” but testified that the event “left a vivid picture” in his mind of what Appellant looked like. (R. p. 135, line 24 – p. 136, line 4). Subsequently, defense counsel cross-examined the victim regarding his recollection of events, his prior statement to police, and his in-court identification of Appellant. (R. p. 136-47).

The next morning, defense counsel made a motion for a mistrial based upon a violation of Appellant’s “right to due process” by the State’s calling the victim as a witness at trial and offering his identification of Appellant with no prior warning to the defense. (R. p. 164-65). Defense counsel argued this was a “structural error” and that the lack of this information “deprived [Appellant] of any opportunity to make a meaningful decision on plea offers. . . .” (R. p. 165, lines 6-10). In response to the judge’s question regarding whether there was anything in the discovery indicating the victim could not identify Appellant, defense counsel indicated the discovery reflected only general descriptions of the perpetrators and that there was nothing in the discovery suggesting that the victim could identify Appellant. (R. p. 165-66). Defense counsel agreed with the judge that it would be “different” if the victim had in pretrial statements indicated that the perpetrator was a “white female.” (R. p. 166, lines 6-8). However, defense counsel insisted that since in pretrial statements, the victim could only say the perpetrators were “two young black males in North Charleston[,] that’s a lot of people, and without any significant description of the people it’s just our conclusion that he could not identify anybody and [the solicitor] never said he could.” (R. p. 166, lines 11-15). Defense

counsel agreed with the judge that the pretrial descriptions were not “inconsistent” with Appellant’s appearance. (R. p. 166, line 19 – p. 167, line 4). However, defense counsel contended that the identification of Appellant as the shooter was a “complete ambush and a total surprise” and to bring out the victim’s identification in the middle of trial “deprives [Appellant] of a complete right to a fair trial and due process.” (R. p. 167, lines 13-25).

After hearing the solicitor’s request to deny Appellant’s mistrial motion, the judge ruled that a Neil v. Biggers hearing was not required when there is a first-time in-court identification and stated she was denying a mistrial and allowing the in-court identification. (R. p. 169, line 23 – p. 170, line 12). She noted that Appellant’s remedy was cross-examination and argument. (R. p. 170, lines 7-8). In response, defense counsel requested a continuance “to be able to hire an expert witness on identification” to impeach the victim and to present a defense. (R. p. 170, lines 16-24). Counsel indicated he was requesting a continuance of thirty days because “a lot of the people we use live in Australia.” (R. p. 171, lines 1-14). The solicitor objected, reiterating that the appropriate remedy was cross-examination. (R. p. 171, lines 17-24). The judge denied the continuance motion. (R. p. 172, lines 7-8). The judge never made a ruling regarding a violation of Brady v. Maryland or Rule 5, SCRCrimP. (See R. p. 123-72). The only other time this issue was mentioned was after the verdict was rendered, when defense counsel stated he was renewing his mistrial motion “based upon the reasons that we expressed before, the last minute disclosure and ambush of the eyewitness, Mr. Thomas, identifying [Appellant].” (R. p. 505, lines 1-4). The judge did not thereafter make a ruling regarding Rule 5 or Brady. (See R. p. 504-508). Defense counsel never objected

to the lack of a ruling on Rule 5 and Brady issues and at no point did he request that the court make such a ruling. (See R. p. 123-72; p. 504-508).

Issue Preservation

Appellant now argues the trial judge erred in denying his mistrial motion because the State violated Appellant's "due process rights under Rule 5 and Brady v. Maryland." (See Brief of Appellant, p. 2). This issue is not preserved for appellate review. "Our law is clear that a party must make a contemporaneous objection that is *ruled upon by the trial judge* to preserve an issue for appellate review." State v. Sheppard, 391 S.C. 415, 420-21, 706 S.E.2d 16, 19 (2011) (emphasis added). "To be preserved for appellate review, an issue must be both presented to *and passed upon* by the trial court." State v. Watts, 321 S.C. 158, 167, 467 S.E.2d 272, 278 (Ct. App. 1996) (emphasis added). "If the issue is raised but not ruled on, it is not preserved for appeal." Id.; see State v. Hudgins, 319 S.C. 233, 236, 460 S.E.2d 388, 390 (1995) (although appellant objected, the trial judge did not rule on the objection and appellant did not object further or request curative instructions; therefore, this issue was not preserved for review), *overruled on other grounds by* State v. Collins, 329 S.C. 23, 495 S.E.2d 202 (1998); State v. Clute, 324 S.C. 584, 591, 480 S.E.2d 85, 88 (Ct. App. 1996) ("Moreover, after the trial court ruled that Clute was not in custody for purposes of Miranda, Clute failed to request a specific ruling as to the voluntariness issue pursuant to Jackson v. Denno. The [voluntariness] issue is therefore not preserved for appeal."), *overruled on other grounds by* State v. Aleksey, 343 S.C. 20, 538 S.E.2d 248 (2000); see also Atlantic Coast Builders and Contractors, LLC v. Lewis, 398 S.C. 323, 730 S.E.2d 282 (2012) (pointing out that "error preservation has been a critical part of appellate practice in this State for a long time, serving to ensure

. . . that we do not reach issues which were not ruled upon by the trial court”); State v. Gee, 262 S.C. 373, 379, 204 S.E.2d 727, 729 (1974) (“Only matter that has been ruled on below can be reviewed, otherwise, the appellate court would be exercising original jurisdiction rather than being a reviewing court. Since the trial judge was not requested to rule upon the foregoing question, and made no ruling thereabout, it is not properly before this Court for consideration.”) (citations omitted); Harkins v. Greenville County, 340 S.C. 606, 620, 533 S.E.2d 886, 893 (2000) (“In order to be preserved for review, the lower court must rule upon the issue.”); Townsend v. City of Dillon, 326 S.C. 244, 247, 486 S.E.2d 95, 97 (1997) (an issue not ruled on by the trial judge is not preserved for appeal); Town of Mount Pleasant v. Jones, 335 S.C. 295, 305, 516 S.E.2d 468, 474 (Ct. App. 1999) (“Because the municipal court judge and the circuit court judge specifically declined to rule on this issue, it is not properly before us for appellate review.”).

Here, Appellant failed to secure a ruling on his Rule 5 and Brady issues. (See R. p. 123-72; p. 504-508). Accordingly, the Rule 5 and Brady issues raised on appeal are not preserved for review, and these issues should be dismissed on error preservation grounds.

Discussion

Even if the Rule 5 and Brady issues had been properly preserved, the trial judge did not err by denying Appellant’s mistrial motion because the State committed no Rule 5 or Brady violation. In Brady v. Maryland, the United States Supreme Court instructed that “the suppression by the prosecution of evidence favorable to an accused upon request violates due process where evidence is material to either guilt or punishment, irrespective of the good faith or bad faith of the prosecution.” 373 U.S. 83, 87 (1963). The South

Carolina Supreme Court has stated that the requirements for a Brady violation are as follows: (1) the evidence was favorable to the accused, (2) the evidence was in the possession of or known to the prosecution, (3) the evidence was suppressed by the prosecution, and (4) the evidence was material to guilt or punishment.” Gibson v. State, 334 S.C. 515, 524, 514 S.E.2d 320, 324 (1999).

In this case, the fact that the victim was able to identify Appellant in court was obviously not favorable to Appellant in any manner. See State v. Anderson, 407 S.C. 278, 287, 754 S.E.2d 905, 909 (2014) (“Favorable evidence is either favorable exculpatory evidence or favorable impeachment evidence.”) (citing United States v. Bagley, 473 U.S. 667, 676 (1963)); State v. Carlson, 363 S.C. 586, 609, 611 S.E.2d 283, 295 (Ct. App. 2005) (“Exculpatory evidence is that which creates a reasonable doubt about the defendant's guilt.”) (citation omitted). Therefore, the State did not violate Brady by failing to apprise Appellant of this information prior to trial.¹ Appellant’s argument that had he been aware of the possible identification, he “could have had the opportunity to hire an expert and more properly develop his cross-examination thus affording [him] a more complete defense” (see Brief of Appellant, p. 4-5) is misplaced because prosecutors are under no duty to report all information that they learn about their witnesses, even if the defense might have found such information helpful in preparing its

¹ Even if the information had been favorable (although clearly it was not), Appellant still received the information in time for use at trial. (See R. p. 136-48; p. 168, lines 10-20). See State v. Carlson, 363 S.C. at 610, 611 S.E.2d at 295 (“Courts have held that when defense counsel is given the opportunity to review and use the inconsistent statement in cross-examination, as was done here, there is no reasonable probability the outcome of the trial would have been different.”); State v. Kennerly, 331 S.C. 442, 453, 503 S.E.2d 214, 220 (Ct. App. 1998) (“In a Brady analysis, information is not deemed “material” if the defense discovers the information in time to adequately use it at trial.”).

case.² U.S. v. Agurs, 427 U.S. 97, 109-10 (1976); Weatherford v. Bursey, 429 U.S. 545, 559-61 (1977).

Appellant also contends that the State violated Rule 5, SCRCrimP, by failing to disclose the information about the victim's ability to identify him in court, although Appellant has failed to explain, either at trial or on appeal, exactly how Rule 5 was violated. (See Brief of Appellant, p. 2-5). See State v. Hill, 394 S.C. 280, 297, 715 S.E.2d 368, 377-78 (Ct. App. 2011) (an issue will be deemed abandoned on appeal if it is argued in a short, conclusory manner without supporting authority). In any event, Appellant's argument regarding Rule 5 is without merit. The rules encompassed in Brady and Rule 5 are separate and impose different duties. State v. Kennerly, 331 S.C. 442, 452, 503 S.E.2d 214, 219 (Ct. App. 1998). "Therefore, [a] separate analysis must be used to determine if either has been violated." Id. "The Brady disclosure rule is grounded in the defendant's fundamental right to a fair trial mandated by the Due Process Clause of the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments." Id. at 452, 503 S.E.2d at 219-220. "The requirements of Rule 5, as opposed to the constitutional dictates of Brady, are judicially created discovery mechanisms for use in criminal proceedings." Id. at 453, 503 S.E.2d at 220. "A violation of Rule 5 is not reversible unless prejudice is shown." State v. Landon, 370 S.C. 103, 108, 634 S.E.2d 660, 663 (2006).

Rule 5(a)(1)(C), SCRCrimP, "Documents and Tangible Objects," states as follows:

Upon request of the defendant the prosecution shall permit the defendant to inspect and copy books, papers, documents, photographs, tangible objects, buildings or places, or copies or portions thereof, which are within

² Significantly, the facts of the case as reflected in the discovery showed that the perpetrators were not wearing masks; therefore Appellant should have anticipated that the victim might be able to identify him upon seeing him in court.

the possession, custody or control of the prosecution, and which are material to the preparation of his defense or are intended for use by the prosecution as evidence in chief at the trial, or were obtained from or belong to the defendant.

Thus, this section of Rule 5 encompasses only written and tangible materials, as opposed to information known to prosecutors but that is not documented in some way. In Appellant's case, there were no written or tangible materials indicating that the victim could identify Appellant in court. (See R. p. 122-30; p. 168). Indeed, since there were no pre-trial show-ups or lineups, the victim could not have known whether or not he would be able to identify Appellant until he arrived in court for trial. (See R. p. 124, line 16 – p. 125, line 2; p. 295, lines 3-9; p. 310). Therefore, the State committed no Rule 5 violation.

In sum, because there was no Brady or Rule 5 violation, the trial judge properly denied Appellant's motion for mistrial. See State v. Wasson, 299 S.C. 508, 510, 386 S.C. 255, 256 (1989) (the party seeking a mistrial must show both error and prejudice in order to be entitled to a mistrial); State v. Harris, 340 S.C. 59, 63, 530 S.E.2d 626, 627-628 (2000) (the grant or denial of a mistrial lies within the sound discretion of the trial court, and the ruling will not be disturbed on appeal absent an abuse of discretion or an error of law).

II. The trial judge properly admitted Appellant's statement to police because there was no violation of Miranda or Seibert where Appellant was not in custody prior to the time the officers advised him of his rights.

Relevant Facts

After Appellant was developed as a suspect following an anonymous tip to police, Detective Patrick obtained Appellant's phone number, made phone contact with Appellant, and arranged to meet with him the next day. (R. p. 69-70; p. 288-89). The

following day Detective Patrick picked up Appellant and transported him to the North Charleston City Hall for an interview. (R. p. 60, lines 20-23; p. 69-70). Initially, around 11:00 am, Sergeant Hill began interviewing Appellant with regard to a separate incident, and Appellant agreed to provide a written statement regarding that incident. (R. p. 59-60; p. 70; p. 74, line 23). Near the end of the interview regarding the other incident, the officers inquired as to what Appellant had been doing recently, and Appellant indicated that around the time of the victim's shooting he had been crossing the street going to the Three Dollar Lounge. (R. p. 61; p. 70-71). At that point, at 11:07 am, officers decided to stop the interview and Mirandize Appellant. (R. p. 61; p. 70-71; p. 76, line 8). Sergeant Hill provided Appellant his Miranda rights at 11:10 am, and Appellant agreed to waive his rights and provide a statement. (R. p. 55-59; p. 65-66; see State's Exhibit #2, Written Statement of Appellant). Appellant's written statement was commenced around 11:13 or 11:14 am, after the advisement of rights form had been completed. (R. p. 76, lines 11-17). Appellant was not handcuffed at this time and was free to leave if he wished to do so. (R. p. 62-64). However, Appellant never asked to stop the interview and, in fact, he was very cooperative with the officers. (R. p. 72, lines 12-18).

Following a pre-trial Jackson v. Denno³ hearing, defense counsel moved to suppress Appellant's written statement. He argued the statement was inadmissible under Missouri v. Seibert⁴ and that the statement was the inadmissible poisonous fruit of a Fourth Amendment violation. After considering the arguments of the defense and the State, the trial judge denied Appellant's motion to suppress. (See R. p. 77-85; p. 90, line 21 – p. 92, line 8). Subsequently, during trial, Appellant's written statement was

³ 378 U.S. 368 (1964).

⁴ 542 U.S. 600 (2004).

admitted into evidence over defense counsel's objection as State's Exhibit # 2. (See R. p. 291-94).

Discussion

Appellant argues on appeal that the trial judge should have suppressed his written statement because the officers violated both Miranda and Missouri v. Seibert. Initially, Appellant's brief fails to explain in precise terms how Seibert applies or how it was violated. (See Brief of Appellant, p. 6-7). See State v. Jones, 392 S.C. 647, 655, 709 S.E.2d 696, 700 (Ct. App. 2011) ("An issue is . . . deemed abandoned if the argument in the brief is merely conclusory.") (citation omitted); State v. Tyndall, 336 S.C. 8, 16-17, 518 S.E.2d 278, 282-83 (Ct. App. 1999) (argument was deemed abandoned where a single conclusory statement in the appellant's brief left un-argued the purported error being raised); cf. State v. Hill, 394 S.C. at 296-97, 715 S.E.2d at 377-78 ("The mere fact that Hill cited to Brady does not provide this court with any guidance as to why the State should be deemed to have withheld material impeachment evidence entitling Hill to a mistrial.").

Regardless, Appellant's arguments are without merit. The State may not use statements stemming from custodial interrogation of the defendant unless it demonstrates the use of procedural safeguards effective to secure the privilege against self-incrimination. Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436, 444 (1966). "Custodial interrogation" involves questioning initiated by law enforcement officers after a person has been taken into custody or otherwise deprived of his freedom of action in any significant way. State v. Williams, 405 S.C. 263, 272, 747 S.E.2d 194, 199 (Ct. App. 2013). A person is "in custody" when his freedom has been restricted. Id. (citation omitted). Whether a person

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